#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MARLIN COOPER,	)	NO.	Electronically Filed Feb 01 2018 08:20 a.m. Feb 01 2018 08:20 a.m.
Appellant,	<i>∮</i> }		Clerk of Supreme Court
x tppointing.	)		
VS.	)		
	),		
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)		
	)		
Respondent.	)		
	)		

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN P. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives Court jurisdiction to review this appeal of a jury verdict. District court filed judgment on 03/02/17. II:344-45. James filed the notice of appeal on 12/28/16 within the 30 day time limit established by NRAP 4(b). II:240-41. A second notice of appeal was filed on 03/22/17. II:356-49.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT.
- II. COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY INCORRECTLY CONCLUDING JAMES DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT AN INFERENCE OF DISCRIMINATION WHEN MAKING TWO BATSON CHALLENGES.
- III. DOUBLE JEOPARDY AND THE UNIT OF PROSECUTION TEST BAR TWO CONVICTIONS FOR BATTERY DOMESTIC VIOLENCE.
- IV. JAMES' RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION WAS VIOLATED WHEN COURT ADMITTED TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY AND THE ERROR WAS MAGNIFIED BY STATE NOT LAYING A PROPER FOUNDATION TO ADMIT STATEMENTS.

- V. INADMISSIBLE BAD ACTS.
- VI. STATE VIOLATED JAMES' RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY HIDING BRADY/GIGLIO MATERIAL.
- VII. JURY INSTRUCTIONS.
- VIII. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING.
- IX. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 01/26/16, State filed a criminal complaint charging James Cooper with two counts of battery domestic violence arising on the same date, time, and with the same victim, Brittney Jensen. I:001-03. On 02/04/16, State amended the complaint by adding two additional counts of child abuse and neglect, naming victims JB and KJ. I:004-06.

Brittney Jensen, JB, and KJ did not attend the preliminary hearing held on 02/25/16. Over the objection of the defense, under NRS 171.196, State presented its case with hearsay testimony from Officer Pickens. I:011-21. Justice Court bound the case up to district court for trial.

On 03/01/16, State filed the Information. I:039-42. James entered a not guilty plea at his initial arraignment on 03/03/16 and invoked his right to a speedy trial. II:379-81; *Minutes-*II:350. After the 04/25/16 calendar call,

James's attorney requested a continuance due to a scheduling conflict which court granted.<sup>1</sup> Court reset the trial to begin on 06/27/16.

Subsequently, James' attorney filed a motion to withdraw from his case. I:131-35. At the 05/18/16 hearing, James' attorney withdrew his request.<sup>2</sup> The trial was vacated at the 06/20/16 calendar call when James missed his court date.<sup>3</sup> Thereafter, James' attorney withdrew.<sup>4</sup>

James was given a new attorney with a new trial date of 11/14/16. II:405-07; Minutes-II:361.

Several motions were litigated prior to trial and before jury selection the court held a *Petrocelli* Hearing.<sup>5</sup> State amended the Information on the first day of trial. II:296-98.

Calendar Call on 04/25/16- II:282-86; *Minutes*-II:352-2; Hearing on 04/27/16-II:387-88; *Minutes*- II:353; Hearing on 04/28/16-II:387-88; *Minutes*- II:354-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> II:384-96;3987-98; Minutes-II:356; 357.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> II:399-401: *Minutes*-II:358-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> I:152-56; II:402-04: *Minutes-*II:360.

<sup>(1)</sup> State's Motion to admit other bad acts pursuant to NRS 48.045 and evidence of domestic violence under NRS 48.061 (I:059-103) and Defendant's Opposition (I:104-112) and Hearing at II:382-86-Minutes;II:351-2; and II:420-24; Minutes-II:364 and II:498-97:Minutes-II:366-67.

<sup>(2)</sup> State's Motion to admit medical records, 911 calls, and recorded jail calls (I:177-42) and Defendant's Opposition (II:243-51) and State's Reply (II:252-58) and Hearing at II:416-19;II:420-24-Minutes II:364.

<sup>(3)</sup> Defendant's Motion to dismiss Counts 1 and 2 (II:259-64) and State's Opposition (I:264-93) and Hearing at II:420-24-Minutes- II:364-65.

The four day trial began on 11/14/16 and ended on 11/17/16.<sup>6</sup> The jury found James guilty on Counts 1, 3, and 4; and, convicted him of a lesser charge on Count 2. II:338.

On 02/15/16, court sentenced James to an aggregate sentence of 48 to 120 months. VI:1181. VI:1162-81; *Minutes*-II:376-77. Court gave James 24 to 60 months on all counts but ran count 1 consecutive to count 3, count 1 concurrent to count 2, and counts 3 and 4 concurrent. II:343;IV:1181.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Brittany Jensen has a history of drinking and becoming violent. In 2012, after drinking heavily, she lost control and kicked in the apartment door where she was living, hit her friend Rambo, and ripped Rambo's clothing. IV:751-54;780-81. For this incident she was found guilty of battery domestic violence. IV:678-79;753.

On 01/22/16 Brittney Jensen drank a fifth of Bacardi rum. Brittney again became violent.

Day  $1 - \frac{11}{14}$  at III:498-657; *Minutes* II:366-68.

Day 2 - 11/15/16 at IV:658-899; V:900-47; Minutes II:369-70.

Day 3 - 11/17/16 at V:948-1048; *Minutes* II:371-72.

Day 4 – 11/18/16 at VI:1041-61; Minutes II:373-74.

She was living with James and her two children 8 year old JB and 5 year old KJ when this incident occurred. Brittney testified that she had been drinking and talking to her friend Sasha over the telephone when she decided to confront James about something that happened between them weeks prior. IV:693-95. She was mad. IV:695.

Brittney said she went into the master bedroom and:

...I was talking to him and he was just trying to listen to me and telling me not to worry about it...I just remember being in his face, and I grabbed his hair...and I started tearing his hair out and hitting him...in our bedroom. IV: 695.

[James] was standing up [and I was holding] his hair... IV:696.

I was just all over him. Belligerent...I just remember attacking him and just kept going. I was so mad. IV:696.

...I was going crazy. IV:696.

[I hit him on] his face, his chest... IV:696.

[James was] trying to make me stop...I couldn't believe that I did that. IV:696.

Brittney estimated she pulled out 10-12 of James' dreadlocks. IV:791. Several of her dreadlocks were also pulled out. IV:791;800-01.

Brittney said James never hit her but was trying to get away from her.

IV:698. He never wrapped anything around her neck. IV:699.

James testified similarly. James said Brittney was intoxicated when he came home from work, slurring her words and woozy. VI:1047-48. James works as a carpenter for Teamsters Union 6:31. VI:1044. They cooked dinner together and served the kids at the table. VI:1049. But then he took his food to the bedroom to eat while Brittney was on the telephone. VI:1050.

James heard Brittney crying and went to the kitchen to comfort her. VI:1051. After returning to the bedroom, Brittney came in and confronted him, talking about his phone, and she took his tool bag and threw his tools all over. VI:1051-52. She jumped on him while he was in the bed and began pulling his hair – his dreadlocks. VI:1052. When he tried to stop her she bit his finger. VI:1053. The fight that started on the bed, ended up on the floor because he was trying to untangle her from pulling his dreadlocks. VI:1054. Several of his dreadlocks were later found on the floor and pictures of his head showed missing hair. IV:878-79;881;V:935.

James testified that he never kicked, never punched, never stomped on, and never strangled Brittney. VI:1054-58. He said the struggle between them caused her injuries.

James said he left the apartment, wearing his boxers, to call 911. VI:1054. He returned to the apartment to grab some clothing and then went

back outside in the cold while talking to 911. Exhibit 3. James' 911 call was made at 6:48 p.m. IV:699-701.

James told 911 that Brittney pulled his hair out and bit him; he explained she had a mental illness and was bipolar; and she drank a whole bottle of alcohol that day. Brittney can be heard in the background crying and yelling. Exhibit 3.

When Brittney realized James was on the phone with 911, she told JB to call 911 for her. JB called at 6:51 p.m. IV:699-703; Exhibit 2. On the tape Brittney can be heard yelling that James hit her with his hands and choked her. At trial, Brittney acknowledged making these statements because she knew 911 was recorded and she did not want to get in trouble for her acts. IV:771.

Police Officers Kolarik, Sylvia, and Pickens responded to the calls. Kolarik was wearing a body cam. Exhibit 4. The cam shows Pickens speaking to James at a distance – the entire conversation was not captured. James told Pickens what occurred, similar to his trial testimony. IV:895-99;V:900-01. James denied ever kicking, stomping, or punching Brittney. Pickens documented the injuries to James: left hand with bite mark and blood, missing hair. IV:899;V:900-01.

James spoke to Det. Bragandy about the incident that night. VI:1082-85. He told Bragandy that "we rolled on the bed and we fell out of the bed and she still had my hair and she started going to her son to call the police, go call the police." VI:1082. James called 911 while still in the bedroom but did not talk to the operator until he was outside. VI:1083. He never grabbed a phone out of the hands of JB. IV:1084.

Brittney's behavior is well documented on the body cam. Exhibit 4. She is emotional and appears drunk or on drugs. Exhibit 4. Pickens and Sylvia said Brittney was intoxicated and unable to communicate what occurred. IV:844;863-66. Medical records indicate Brittney was so intoxicated that she was unable to communicate with staff. VII:1309. Yet when medics arrived they asked her if James had strangled her and she responded "Yes." IV:834-35.

Officers testified Brittney had multiple facial injuries, bruising, her eye was swollen, some of her hair was missing, and she had blood and scratches everywhere. IV:842-43; V:902-03.

CSI Amanda Wright photographed Brittney's injuries at the hospital. She also took photographs of the apartment, except for the children's room because she did not see anything out of order in that room. IV:868-89.

Brittney testified that no one asked her what happened. IV:706;797. Even while she was at the hospital, no one asked her. V:771. Medical records indicate she was not allowed to leave until she was clinically sober. VII:1240. Upon discharge, she refused to go to a shelter, refused to talk about the incident, and declined any community resources. VII:1309.

Although police did not question Brittney, they spoke to her children. According to Officer Sylvia, JB said his mom and James were arguing in the bedroom and then he heard her say something like "Don't do that." IV:853. James punched Brittney in the stomach, grabbed her and threw her on the ground, and was yelling. IV:853. Brittney ran to the kitchen and James chased her and grabbed her again and threw her to the floor and when she hit the floor her head hit the cabinets. James then kicked her all over her body and stepped on her face. IV:855. Brittney told him to call 911. IV:855.

Sylvia said that JB said that when he was trying to call 911, James ran after him and took the phone, throwing him on his bed knocking over the TV in the process. IV:855. James then argued with Brittney is the master bedroom and threw her to the ground again and they wrestled. IV:855. "She was grabbing at his hair while they were wrestling on the ground... [James] was continuously punching and hitting his mother...this went on for a while, [James] finally got up and left the apartment and

Brittney went to the bathroom and tried to lock herself in the bathroom."

IV: 856. Officer Pickens also testified to what JB said. V:909-915.

At trial, JB remembered none of this. IV:805-822.

KJ remembered seeing James push JB on the bed and take the phone out of his hands. IV:823-26.

Brittney testified that the children were in their bedroom and did not see her start the fight and did not see her pulling out James hair. IV:771. When JB came out of his room, the fight had already started. IV:771-72. Brittney believed her behavior scared JB. IV:773.

When Brittney left the hospital, she returned home to James being in jail and her kids temporarily with CPS. IV:726;797. James called her several times and State introduced jail calls. See Exhibits 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72. Although Brittney did not remember her injuries the night of the incident, she admitted that the next day she had a black eye, a scrape, some missing hair, and a mark on her throat. IV:706-07;800.

On 01/26/15, Brittney authored a letter taking full responsibility for her actions. IV:723-24;VI:1183-4. In the letter she wrote:

I had been drinking heavily throughout the day...I decided to speak with James about something that I was upset about that happened a couple weeks prior. When we were talking, I started getting upset and when James tried to remove himself from the situation, I followed him and then I attacked him and I proceeded to continue to attack him throughout the house and

pulled a lot of his hair out and then he placed a call to 911, and then I started belligerently yelling profanities and yelled to my son to also call 911 when 911 did arrive, they just looked at my injuries and saw how intoxicated I was and told me you are going to the hospital and when I arrived there, they didn't ask me what happened or anything... IV:723-24; VI:1182-84.

Brittney appeared at James' first court date on 01/27/16 but did not attend his preliminary hearing even though she was subpoenaed. IV:724-25 At some point Brittney moved to Arizona because she claimed the D.A. did not want to listen to her. IV:726-27. She stayed there to avoid service of a subpoena. IV:727-28.

Brittney helped James bail out and hire an attorney. IV:726; Jail calls.

Brittney and James also testified to another battery domestic incident occurring on 07/03/15. IV:755-58; VI:1075-78;1063-64; See Issue V.

Elynee Green, LVMP victim witness manager testified to general observations of domestic violence victims and what she called the cycle. V:951-69. Her job at METRO is to direct individuals who are identified as victims by the police to community assistance programs. V:963. She has not maintained any certification for her counseling degree and does not counsel alleged victims. V:963-64. She never interviewed Brittney and did not read the police reports. V:964.

Dr. Lisa Gavin, pathologist in the Coroner's Office, testified about autopsies she conducted involving strangulation and strangulation in general. V:1009-35. She never interview and never examined Brittney but looked at a few pictures taken of Brittney by METRO. V:1021-27;1030a. She never reviewed Brittney's medical reports. V:1227. She never reviewed the police reports and never looked at photographs of James' injuries. V:1030a.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is an example of the State proving its case entirely through hearsay — hearsay of an eight year old child. In deciding whether the hearsay was properly admitted Court must address *Flores v. State*, 121 Nev. 706 (2005), *Crowley v. State*, 120 Nev. 30(2004), *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and the hearsay statutes. This case also contains an issue of first impression, Court must decide if Double Jeopardy or the Unit of Prosecution test prohibit two convictions for battery domestic violence arising out of the same incident. Issues involving a *Batson* challenge, prosecutorial misconduct with discovery and closing, inadmissible other bad acts, recorded recollection, cumulative error, and improper jury instructions are also addressed.

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### I. EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT.

#### A. Facts.

James incorporates the Statement of Facts.

### B. Child abuse, neglect, or endangerment – counts 3 and 4.

In Counts 3 and 4, James was convicted of child abuse, neglect, or endangerment, a violation of NRS 200.508(1). Each count alleged James:

...willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously cause a child under the age of 18 years...to suffer unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect, *to-wit:* physical injury of a non-accidental nature and/or negligent treatment or maltreatment, and/or cause [child] to be placed in a situation where he might have suffered unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect, *to wit:* physical injury of a non-accidental nature and/or negligent treatment or maltreatment...

Amended Information-II:296-98; Jury Instruction 3-II:303-04.

In Count 3, State claimed James violated NRS 200.508(1) "by hitting and/or punching the mother of JB, while near JB and/or by chasing JB down the hallway to his room and preventing JB from calling the police." II:297;303.

In Count 4, State alleged James committed the crime "by hitting and/or punching the mother of KJ while near KJ." II:298;304.

As to Count 4, State presented no evidence that KJ saw Brittney being hit or punched by James. KJ saw nothing happen to Brittney. IV:823-26. Pickens said KJ stayed in her room the entire time. V:907. Thus, count 4 must be dismissed due to insufficient evidence.

As to both counts, State presented no evidence that JB and KJ were harmed physically or mentally by James – no counselors, no experts, no doctors, and no medical reports. No one from CPS testified that the kids were traumatized and Brittney received the children back in the home after a few days. IV:726.

Likewise State presented no evidence that JB or KJ were placed in a situation where they could be harmed by James hitting or punching Brittney. KJ never came out of her room. JB came out after the fight began and was not injured.

Nine year old JB was 8 years old at the time of the incident on 01/22/15 and he remembered nothing thus showing he was not traumatized by the alleged incident. IV:805-822. JB only remembered the police coming to his home but did not remember speaking to them.

Wright found no evidence of a disruption occurring in the children's bedroom and therefore took no pictures of that room. Thus, there is no

evidence that the TV was pushed. She also did not take pictures of the children. IV:868-889.

Pickens saw the incident to be solely a battery domestic violence involving Brittney. V:939-41. "As for the child himself...I didn't see personally, a need to go into any kind of child abuse..." V:940. None of the children sustained any injuries and they did not need medical attention. V:940.

If we accept the officer's statement that RB said James chased him down the hallway, pushed him on the bed, and grabbed the phone then the question is whether that is enough for a reasonable juror to find felony child abuse and neglect as to JB and KJ.

NRS 202.508(4)(a) defines "abuse or neglect" to mean:

...physical or mental injury of a nonaccidental nature, sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child under the age of 18 years, as set forth in paragraph (d) and NRS 432B.070, 432B.100, 432B.110, 432B.140 and 432B.150, under circumstances which indicate that the child's health or welfare is harmed or threatened with harm.

Under this definition, State needed to prove actual harm or that there was "negligent treatment... under circumstances which indicate that the child's health or welfare is harmed or threatened with harm." (Emphasis added). See Clay v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 305 P.3d 898, 902-03 (Nev. 2013).

The State pled no facts regarding neglect or negligent treatment.

Here, neither child was physically harmed. Neither child required any medical intervention. Moreover, James called the police immediately to get help. Thus, even if he took the phone away from JB, he used a phone to call the police to come to the apartment to check on the welfare of all occupants and himself.

### C. Battery domestic violence – Counts 1 and 2.

Officer Sylvia and Officer Pickens' account of what JB told them was the foundation of State's evidence proving the battery domestic violence charges. Although Sylvia and Pickens had the ability to record JB's statement through Officer Kolarik's body cam, they chose not to and at trial claimed they had no ability to record their conversations. IV:862;V:938; See State's Exhibit 4.

Court allowed police officers to testify to statements they claimed JB made that night regarding Brittney and James. Court allowed Pickens to say JB claimed he was pushed on the bed by James and James took the phone from him which KJ corroborated. However, Pickens did not separate the children when interviewing them, he did not record their statements, and he himself thought no child abuse was evidence. IV:907-08;38-42.

Accordingly, the evidence presented was not competent based on a multitude of problems. See Issue IV.

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