IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MARLIN COOPER,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 05 2018 08:30 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 72091

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, Suite #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Nevada law gives the court discretion to decide whether a jury instruction is correct and pertinent. NRS 175.161(3). In fact, a district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions. <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 746, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). The district court abuses its discretion only when the "decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Id.</u> It is not error to refuse to give an instruction. <u>Ford v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 209, 211, 660 P.2d 992, 993 (1983). Importantly, a trial court may also refuse to give an instruction if it is less accurate than other instructions, or will confuse the jury. <u>State</u>, 130 Nev. ____, 318 P.3d 1068, 1072 (2014).

Further, erroneous jury instructions are subject to harmless error review. <u>Wegner v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000). An instructional error is harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error[,]" and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. <u>Id.</u>

A. Attempt to suppress evidence instruction

Appellant argues that the court erred in giving the following instruction:

Evidence that the defendant attempted to suppress evidence against himself or to procure false testimony or evidence on his behalf from another person is not in itself sufficient to warrant a finding of guilt. It may be considered, however, as evidence of his consciousness of guilt and a circumstance tending to demonstrate his guilt, should you first find that the defendant actually attempted to suppress evidence or procure false testimony or evidence on his behalf from another person. The significance to be accorded such a fact is solely for your consideration as jurors in your deliberations.

2 AA 325; AOB at 52.

Appellant objected to this instruction arguing that Brittney testified that she

was not influenced by the Appellant to testify favorably for the defense. AOB at 51.

Appellant argues that the State's introduction of jail calls do not establish that

Appellant improperly pressured or threatened Brittney to testify for him.

At trial the State asked Brittney:

Q: So at the beginning of the call, did you hear yourself say is there any way that you can turn yourself in?A: Yes.Q: And then did you hear James just say, *you know what you got to do*. Just do what you got to do, you know what I'm saying? Did you hear him say that?A: Yes

4 AA 720 (emphasis added).

Brittney testified that the main topic of conversation in all of the jail calls with Appellant revolved around bail and getting Appellant out of jail. 4 AA 716. After the jail calls, Brittney wrote a letter to Appellant's lawyer accepting all responsibility for the January 22, 2016, incident. 4 AA 723. Brittney testified that although she was subpoenaed by the State to testify against Appellant, she did not come to court because she was in support of him. 4 AA 724-25. Moreover, the medical records revealed that Brittney refused all offers of help for counseling and shelter assistance for victims of DV. 6 AA 1144. Here, the evidence fully supported the instruction. Therefore, this Court should find that the jury instruction was proper.

Even if this Court does find error, Appellant had the opportunity to refute the claim that he influenced Brittney's testimony through cross-examination and his own testimony at trial. 4 AA 792. The language of the jury instruction advises the jury that is their determination of whether there has been improper influence and that improper influence alone is not sufficient to establish guilt. Therefore, the jury instruction alone did not act to unfairly prejudice and determine the ultimate outcome of Appellant's case.

B. Lesser Included Instruction

Appellant was charged with felony Child Abuse, Neglect, Endangerment under NRS 200.508(1). Appellant argues the court improperly rejected his instruction for Child Endangerment (Gross Misdemeanor) as a lesser included offense of Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment under NRS 200.508(2). AOB at 53.

Appellant proposed the following instruction:

When a person is accused of committing a particular crime and at the same time and by the same conduct may have committed another offense of lesser grade or degree, the

45

latter is with respect to the former, a lesser included offense. If you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty of the offense charged, he may, however be found guilty of a lesser included offense, but only if the evidence is sufficient to establish guilt of the lesser included offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Child Endangerment (Gross Misdemeanor) is a lesser included offense of Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment (Felony).

7 AA 1217.

The State argued that gross misdemeanor child endangerment is not a lesser included offense of felony child abuse because they are listed in two separate subsections. 5 AA 987. Additionally, felony child abuse qualifies for felony murder whereas gross misdemeanor child abuse does not. <u>Id; Ramirez v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 235 P.3d 619, 623-24 (2010). Further, the State explained that gross misdemeanor child abuse and felony child abuse had different elements, therefore, Appellant did not meet <u>Blockburger</u>. <u>Id</u>. The court agreed. 5 AA 987.

In determining whether an uncharged offense is a lesser-included offense of a charged offense so as to warrant an instruction pursuant to NRS 175.501, a court applies the elements test from <u>Blockburger</u>. <u>Alotaibi v. State</u>, 131 Nev. ____, ___, 404 P.3d 761, 764(2017). Under the elements test, an offense is necessarily included in the charged offense if all of the elements of the lesser offense are included in the elements of the greater offense, such that the offense charged cannot be committed without committing the lesser offense. <u>Id</u>. Thus, if the uncharged offense contains a

necessary element not included in the charged offense, then it is not a lesser-included offense and no jury instruction is warranted. <u>Id</u>.

Here, the elements of gross misdemeanor and felony Child Abuse are different under <u>Blockburger</u>. NRS 200.508(1), the subsection Appellant was charged under, is violated where a defendant is the direct active actor of the child abuse. Whereas under NRS 200.508 (2), the subsection Appellant proposed was a lesser included offense, is violated only where a defendant passively commits child endangerment and owes a duty to be responsible for the safety or welfare of the child endangered. Thus, the direct actor element in NRS 200.508(1) is a separate element not included in NRS 200.508(2). Further, the element of having a duty for the welfare or safety of a child in NRS 200.508(2) is not present in NRS 200.508(1). Therefore, NRS 200.508(2) is not a lesser included offense.

Additionally, the legislature specified different punishments for NRS 200.508(1) and NRS 200.508(2). Under NRS 200.508(1)(b), if substantial bodily or mental harm does not result to the child and defendant is a direct actor, the defendant is guilty of a Category B felony punishable by one to six years in prison. In contrast, NRS 200.508(2) is punishable as a gross misdemeanor if the defendant has not been previously convicted of child abuse and is a passive participant in the abuse. In sum, a defendant cannot receive gross misdemeanor treatment if he or she is the direct actor of the child abuse.

Appellant directly committed the harm through negligent treatment in this case. As discussed <u>supra</u>, KJ testified that she remembered being in the room while Appellant threw JB onto the bed. 4 AA 824-25. By being in the small apartment at the same time the abuse against JB and Brittney occurred, KJ was also victimized. Additionally, JB told officers the night of the attack that he felt sore after Appellant threw him onto the bed. 5 AA 918. Therefore, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's proposed instruction.

As discussed <u>supra</u>, KJ testified that she remembered being in the room while Appellant threw JB onto the bed. 4 AA 824-25. By being in the small apartment at the same time the abuse against JB and Brittney occurred, KJ was also victimized. Additionally, JB told officers the night of the attack that he felt sore after Appellant threw him onto the bed. 5 AA 918. Therefore, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's proposed instruction.

C. <u>Two reasonable interpretations</u>

Appellant's complains the court improperly rejected his proposed instruction on two reasonable interpretations. 6 AA 1216. The State objected to the proposed instruction noting that the instructions already contained sufficient reasonable doubt instructions. 5 AA 1001. Appellant responded that his proposed instruction was one of the standard instructions that defense provides and counsel understood the district court's position noting it would be confusing in light of the other instructions. 5 AA 1000-01. The district court was within its discretion to provide the jury with comparable and accurate reasonable double instruction based upon NRS 175.211(1). 2 AA 316; 321.

Appellant's argument is without merit, as this Court has held on numerous occasions that it is *not* error to refuse to give this kind of instruction where the jury has been properly instructed on the standard of reasonable doubt. Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 559, 51 P.3d 521, 524 (2002). Moreover, defendants are not "entitled to instructions that are misleading, inaccurate, or duplicitous," Crawford, 121 Nev. at 754, 121 P.3d at 589, and when the jury is properly instructed on reasonable doubt, as it was here, 4 AA 283, "an additional instruction on the sufficiency of [the] evidence invites confusion." State v. Humpherys, 8 P.3d 652 (Idaho 2000) ("We agree with the conclusion of the courts from the growing majority of states that in all criminal cases there should be only one standard of proof, which is beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, we hold that once the jury has been properly instructed on the reasonable doubt standard of proof, the defendant is not entitled to an additional instruction.").

This Court has examined similar language as that proposed by Appellant. In <u>Bails</u>, Defendant argued the court was required to instruct the jury that "if the evidence is susceptible of two reasonable interpretations, one of which points to the defendant's guilt and the other to his innocence, it is your duty to adopt that

interpretation which points to the defendant's innocence, and reject the other which points to his guilt. <u>Bails</u>, 92 Nev. at 96-7, 545 P.2d at 1155. However, this Court held that "it is not error to refuse to give the instruction if the jury is properly instructed regarding reasonable doubt." <u>Id</u>. at 97, 1156. Here, the jury was properly instructed on reasonable doubt and on how to interpret and weigh the evidence. 2 AA 316; 321-23.

The district court did not abuse its discretion because it listened to counsel's argument and noted that in light of the other instructions the two reasonable interpretation instruction was confusing because the jury had already been instructed on reasonable doubt. 5 AA 1000-01. Even if the Court finds that the court erred in rejecting the instruction, the error was harmless because the State's case did not rest solely on circumstantial evidence. The State's case was bolstered by not only circumstantial evidence but also the testimony of Brittney, JB, KJ, Officer Sylvia, Officer Perkins, and Dr. Gavin's testimony.

D. Self-Defense

The court rejected several proposed self-defense instructions offered by Appellant. Appellant contends that the court improperly chose the instructions offered by the State because his proposed instructions were divided into three sections "making them easier for the jury to understand." AOB at 55-56. There is no authority that a district court abuses its discretion where the proposed instructions of the defense are in the defense's opinion of interpretation "easier to understand." The district court did not abuse its discretion because Appellant's proposed instruction L did not cite the correct statement of the law in the case it cited <u>Runion v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1041, 13 P.3d 52 (2000). 5 AA 995, 999. The court also found that proposed instruction H did not track the language in the case cited <u>Davis v. State</u>, 130 Nev. _____, ____, 321 P.3d 867 (2014). 4 AA 1213; 5 AA 995-96. Moreover, the court noted after reviewing Appellant's proposed jury instructions that additional self-defense instructions would be cumulative. 2 AA 326-28.

Even if this Court did find error, it was harmless. The jury was instructed on self-defense. <u>Id</u>. Appellant testified that he acted in self-defense.6 AA 1067. JB never testified or told police that Brittney was the first to physically attack Appellant. Clearly, the jury evaluated the credibility of both the State's witnesses and Appellant's testimony and found that Appellant did not reasonably act in self-defense. Therefore, Appellant's claim should be denied.

VIII. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Appellant argues that the State acted improperly because it led KJ's during direct testimony and falsely argued that KJ witnessed the DV in closing argument. AOB at 57-60. Appellant adds that the State improperly objected during Appellant's closing and put forth a new theory of the case in rebuttal. <u>Id</u>. Appellant contends that the State acted improperly by intentionally redacting the 911 call and hiding

Brittney's prior DV conviction. AOB at 51. Appellant did not object to any prosecutorial misconduct at trial. The review of this Court is limited to plain error. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008).

This Court applies a two-step analysis to claims of prosecutorial misconduct. <u>Id</u>. This Court first determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and second, whether the conduct warrants reversal. <u>Id.</u>, 196 P.3d at 476.

Appellant must demonstrate "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial." <u>Riker v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995). This is because a defendant has a right to a fair trial, not a perfect one. <u>Ross v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. <u>Darden v. Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. <u>Libby</u>, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054.

Harmless-error review is only appropriate if the error has been properly preserved for review. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. The failure to object to the prosecutorial misconduct at trial precludes appellate review. <u>Id.</u>

When there is not an objection, all but plain error is waived. Dermody v. City

of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997).

Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record. In addition, the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Matinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. __, __, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015).

Although Appellant argues that the State improperly lead KJ on direct, Appellant did not object. AOB at 57; 4 AA 825. Appellant does not meet his burden in showing how the direct examination of KJ affected his substantial rights. There was evidence presented that KJ was afraid the night of the attacks on Brittney. Officers testified that KJ was crying when they arrived on the scene. 4 AA 841-42; 4 AA 893. Additionally, Appellant cannot show prejudice by KJ's affirmative response to the State's question of whether she was in the room when Appellant threw JB on the bed. KJ testified that she shared a room with her brother and was in the apartment the night JB was thrown on the bed by Appellant. 4 AA 825. Therefore, Appellant does not meet the burden of showing plain error.

Appellant complains that the State improperly objected during defense's closing argument alleging the argument was based upon facts not in evidence and

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